The views expressed in this paper are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Defense or any of its agencies. This document may not be released for open publication until it has been cleared by the appropriate military service or government agency.

STRATEGY RESEARCH PROJECT

19990611

22

SUB-OPTIMIZING LOGISTICS

BY

LIEUTENANT COLONEL JAMES E. ROGERS United States Army

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for public release. Distribution is unlimited.

USAWC CLASS OF 1999



U.S. ARMY WAR COLLEGE, CARLISLE BARRACKS, PA 17013-5050

USAWC STRATEGY RESEARCH PROJECT

Sub-Optimizing Logistics

by

LTC James E. Rogers

COL Tom H. Roberson Project Advisor

The views expressed in this paper are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Defense or any of its agencies. This document may not be released for open publication until it has been cleared by the appropriate military service or government agency.

U.S. Army War College CARLISLE BARRACKS, PENNSYLVANIA 17013

> DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for public release. Distribution is unlimited.

ABSTRACT

AUTHOR:	James E. Rogers	
TITLE:	Sub-Optimizing Logistics	
FORMAT :	Strategy Research Project	
DATE:	13 March 1999 PAGES: 41	CLASSIFICATION: Unclassified

This paper focuses on methods for enhancing the current Army logistics system. It begins with a definition of "optimization" and then identifies current limitations within the logistics system. Four impacts of these limitations are discussed in detail as follows: excess at the wholesale level, excess at the retail level, financial management, and pricing/credit policy. Four current initiatives to rectify these limitations are also presented. These initiatives are the Single Stock Fund, Global Combat Support System-Army, the Army Strategic Logistics Plan, and the Advanced Logistics Program. Two private sector supply/information systems used by Caterpillar and Wal-Mart are briefly examined. The paper concludes with a summary describing the current state of optimization and identifies four recommendations. These recommendations focus on providing more centralized control for the Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics, immediately implementing the Single Stock Fund concept, closing the FORSCOM Materiel Management Center and implementing certain RAND study recommendations.

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT iii		
SUB-OPTIMIZING LOGISTICS 1		
LOGISTICS SYSTEM WEAKNESSES 2		
IMPACTS OF WEAKNESSES 3		
Excess		
Excess-Wholesale 4		
Excess-Retail 5		
Financial Management 7		
Pricing and Credit Policy 9		
MILITARY INITIATIVES 11		
Single Stock Fund 11		
Global Combat Support System - Army		
The Army Strategic Logistics Plan		
The Advanced Logistics Program		
INDUSTRY INITIATIVES 19		
SUMMARY		
RECOMMENDATION		
ENDNOTES		
BIBLIOGRAPHY 2		

vi

SUB-OPTIMIZING LOGISTICS

Optimization is defined as a process of orchestrating the combined efforts of all components of a system toward achievement of the stated aim of the system. Sub-optimization occurs when the performance of a system component has a net negative effect on the performance of the total system. The system that is not as functional or effective as it should be is often characterized by internal competition or over emphasized subsystems without regard to the aim of the whole.¹ An optimal logistics system is essential to maximize efficiencies and best support all facets of the Army.

Clear leadership and vision are required to combine all the components of the logistics system toward one optimal system. Limiting characteristics or weaknesses in the logistics system are unacceptable as the Army transitions to Force XXI and prepares for the Army After Next (AAN). This paper examines weaknesses in the present logistics system and some of the impacts these weaknesses are having across the Army. The paper then looks at how the Army is addressing its logistics system weaknesses and recommends ways for system optimization.

LOGISTICS SYSTEM WEAKNESSES

The logistics system we have today evolved from the Army's warfighting experience. "Logistics has been designed and implemented as an integral element of the Army's operational culture."² The implementation of Force XXI and AAN requires logisticians to continually examine policies, processes, and procedures to ensure optimal support to the operational Army. As part of this continuous review, the Army Strategic Logistics Plan (ASLP) identified the following limiting characteristics in our present logistics structure:

- Command-channeled, horizontal structure.
- Confusing descriptions of the organization of logistics systems and processes: retail/wholesale levels; strategic, operational, tactical echelons.
- Processes and business practices based on hierarchical structure; sequential echeloned financial and logistics data processing; redundant processing of identical data elements; no baseline for source data automation.
- Technology insertion lagging; planning offers sustained stovepiping; resources focused on short-term solutions.
- Logistics systems (structure, training, automation etc.) functionally oriented (supply, maintenance, transportation etc.).
- Less than full asset visibility and diffused ownership of the pipeline.
- Systems design and oversight responsibilities fragmented among various design centers and agencies.
- Oriented to the Army's 20th century culture.³

These weaknesses show a fragmented and unfocused group of subsystems. Synchronization and synergy is required to achieve an optimal logistics system. Today's logistics system is not as

functional or effective as it should be. Functionally oriented and over emphasized subsystems without centralized oversight responsibilities cause inefficient logistics execution. The limiting characteristics are addressed by a number of current initiatives later in the paper.

IMPACTS OF WEAKNESSES

The following paragraphs amplify the impacts of suboptimization on the present Army logistics system. Some of these impacts can be seen in the creation of excess materiel at both retail and wholesale levels, inability to manage budgets with the current financial system, and supply policies that do not promote efficiencies. The discussion highlights some actions taken to reduce the problem. Recommendations are also presented to better support the goal of creating an optimal logistics system.

Excess

One of the most serious impacts of our present system is excess materiel. It is the result of several of the identified limiting characteristics. Hierarchical structure based business practices, redundant processing of data, and limited asset visibility are a few of the problems associated with excess. It is very apparent that a number of subsystems in supply management have created an overall negative effect on the performance of the total system.

Excess-Wholesale

In 1989, Army Materiel Command (AMC) supply inventories were approximately \$18 B. These levels were commensurate with the Cold War way of thinking. The large force structure reduction since 1989 decreased the requirements for parts throughout the Army by over 60%. 4 Most item managers habitually worked two to three years into the future on requirement determination using the Requirements Determination and Execution System (RDES) management system.⁵ The surge production and large build up of repair parts during Desert Storm/Shield followed immediately by the large force reduction turned the wholesale and retail communities upside down. The quick end to the war and immediate retrograde of large amounts of supplies filled warehouses across the country. The problem was compounded by the amount of excess units were holding in anticipation of needs. Projections from stock on hand and stocks recovered from Desert Storm were staggering. Some inventory was projected to last well past the year 2020.

AMC has made progress reducing inventory and fixing the long lead time for procurement. Inventory reductions since 1990 have been huge with a 49% reduction in inventory position and 40% reduction in on hand stock. However, there is still much work required. The on hand inventory, in 1997, based on requirements should have been \$4B, but the actual on hand inventory was

\$10.5B. During this same timeframe from 1990-1997 procurement lead times (PLT) were reduced by 67%. In 1990, it took on average three years to procure an item. AMC has brought that down to approximately one year. The question becomes how much stockage is enough? Is the Army using the right tools to gauge that?

Rand Arroyo and the Army Materiel System Analysis Activity (AMSAA) recently conducted a study titled, ""Optimum" Inventory for AMC-Managed Items". In this study they concluded reduced procurement lead times and smaller order/authorization quantities have the potential of reducing the current inventory level by \$8.4B over the next 10 years. There is also a potential "one time" inventory savings of \$6.3B and avoiding repair of selected items with large quantities already on hand. Reduced lead times and smaller quantities would also reduce forecasting error. The model for requirement determination is under review in coordination with the Velocity Management Repair Process Improvement Team.⁶ Another important initiative is the Single Stock Fund that will combine wholesale and retail logistics management. This initiative will be discussed in detail later in this paper.

Excess-Retail

The FORSCOM Redistribution Program, which later expanded to become the FORSCOM Materiel Management Center (FMMC), is an

excellent example of success in innovative management. Unfortunately, the success of this program demonstrates the inefficiency in the logistics systems as a whole.

The initial plan was to cost avoid the millions of dollars units were losing on the turn in of selected serviceable repair parts to the wholesale level. Desert Shield/Storm and other contingency operations, in conjunction with huge force reductions created unusually large amounts of excess at the retail level. The parts and equipment were purchased from FORSCOM funds and the thought of turning supplies in to the wholesale level and getting a small return credit, only to have another FORSCOM unit need the same part the next day, seemed extremely wasteful.

The plan was to redistribute parts within FORSCOM at a cost saving to the unit and FORSCOM. The unit would turn in their excess and managers at the materiel management center would put the excess items on hold at the local Supply Support Activity (SSA) or ship them to a FORSCOM redistribution hub. The FMMC would buy the parts at wholesale table credit rate, plus an additional incentive credit of 5%. FORSCOM then sold the excess parts at 80 % of the Army Master Data File (AMDF) price. The guarantee from FORSCOM was no cost to the installation. The FRC would only stay in business as long as it made enough money to pay their employees. In fact, FORSCOM hired individuals, FRC

Expediters, to work in each Division Materiel Management Center to oversee redistribution for each division. The initiative was a huge success. It began with a select number of high demand secondary items and immediately began to expand.

The result was a FORSCOM distribution system within the Army's distribution system. The units were able to save money by buying and turning in to the FRC. FORSCOM was able to cost avoid money by redistributing parts already paid for. A win, win at the retail level.

The FORSCOM initiative demonstrates the high cost associated with the wholesale supply system. The program adversely affects wholesale management because item managers and depots expect demands and reparable items from the field based on historical trends. The parts redistribution and repair within FORSCOM skewed requirements determination and reduced depot workload on many reparable items. The FMMC program is simply a duplication of the wholesale supply and distribution system.

Financial Management

The linkage and functionality of financial management with logistics systems is an excellent example of sub-optimization. The day you cannot balance your checkbook is the day you should stop spending money. Under current financial and logistics system interface, units are incapable of balancing their checkbook on any given day. Because of this weakness, the

financial subsystem has a negative affect on the performance of the overall system.

There is no financial interface to assist units in money management. Units order parts with a clear understanding of how much it will cost based on the latest Army Master Data File (AMDF). Yet, the cost can change if the AMDF price changes from the time the unit orders the part to when they receive it, which is when the account is debited.⁷ When a unit turns in either an unserviceable or serviceable repair part, there is no mechanism informing the unit of the dollar amount of credit they are receiving. The unit does receive the database Commitments Accounting System (dCAS) financial report which displays credit approximately two to three weeks after turn in of the item. If no credit is given, the unit must assume there was none to give or question each item to ensure 100% of the authorized credit is received. If this sounds time consuming and inefficient, it is.

The supply system with the fielding of Unit Level Logistic System-Ground (ULLS-G) and Standard Army Retail Supply System-Objective (SARRS-O) is completely automated. Soldiers order parts electronically by sending the request to the next higher supply source who will either fill the requisition or pass it to the next higher supply source. The system is continually updating the unit on previous parts ordered but not received, and even updating price changes to the AMDF for parts the unit

: 8

may order in the future. In the era of software programs like Quicken or Money 99, programs that will even recommend ways to reduce taxes, the Army has not fielded an automated means to assist the commander in management of his budget. Even worse is the problem of inefficiently informing the commander of expenditures and what credit he will get from the turn in of an item.

In a recent study by the Rand Corporation on credit, pricing and surcharge policies, they recommended a number of near term changes to the Army's system. Rand recommendations were:

- Set retail credit rates item by item in order to provide units with better information and more accurate pricing.
- Adopt an exchange price policy which reduces delays and uncertainty in credit by strictly using AMDF credit rates.
 Fund cost components by other means, which equates to only paying for the true repair of the item and not the expensive overhead costs associated with depots.

These recommendations are in line with streamlining and clarifying logistics and financial policy and procedures.⁸ Logistics systems must be directly linked to the financial system in a way transparent to the user. These changes also support the goal of optimizing the logistics system.

Pricing and Credit Policy

Pricing and credit policy changes are directly related to the limiting characteristics of the logistics system, discussed previously. Less than full asset visibility, diffused ownership of the supply pipeline, and redundant processing and business

processes based on a hierarchical structure directly contribute to sub-optimal management of logistics materiel.

Over the past few years, there were significant changes in logistics policy with respect to retention levels and requisition objectives. There were changes in credit policy including both wholesale and the alternate credit policy below wholesale. These changes are in many ways an attempt to get the Army on track to reducing inventory and eliminating layers of stockage at all levels. The numerous policy changes cause uncertainty with customers.⁹

Currently, the monetary credit a unit receives from a turn in can vary from zero to 100 percent depending on the Net Asset Posture (NAP) of the installation at the time the installation processes the turn in document. Theoretically, a customer could turn a part in that morning and get 100 percent credit; or turn one in that afternoon and get zero credit. The smart customer checks the NAP at installation and holds all excess until the NAP is below the installations requisitioning objective to ensure 100 percent credit. This credit policy actually encourages customers to hold excess, which affects the wholesale manager's ability to forecast. The same credit policy is true for unserviceable parts although the return can vary from zero to 80 percent. The credit variation makes it almost impossible to track finances.¹⁰

Policy changes must be kept to a minimum and only change when it supports the soldier in the field. Centralizing management with the Single Stock Fund initiative will eliminate many of these problems. The Single Stock Fund has the potential to fix most of the issues with policy and credit.

MILITARY INITIATIVES

Horizontal structure, a system functionally oriented, as well as fragmented design and oversight responsibilities are directly opposed to the goal of optimization. All of these traits create a sub-optimized system. The only way to optimize is through the synergistic effects of the subsystems working toward the best overall system. This process cannot be done without centralized command and control and each of the individual subsystems moving toward the aim of a single functional and efficient logistics system.

Single Stock Fund

An important initiative toward synchronization of effort is the Single Stock Fund (SSF). The SSF initiative will help to make the Army's logistics and financial processes much more effective and efficient. Under the current structure, supply management has both wholesale and retail levels. This separation of supply management causes many of the problems discussed previously. In particular, retail supply management decisions often negatively affect the wholesale level. The FORSCOM

reinvention initiative is an example of a problem associated with two levels of supply in the Army. It causes multiple points of sale, ledgers, and billing while there are layers of managers overseeing the same commodities. The two levels also cause redundancy in stocks while requiring long lead-time on some items due an inaccurate picture of needs at one level or the other. Bottomline, the two levels sub-optimize supply and financial management.

The present system has independent requirement determination, duplicate maintenance requirements and capabilities, potential to accumulate excess, and duplication of workload.¹¹ The SSF will integrate logistics in a vertical vice horizontal fashion. The merging of the wholesale and retail portion of the Army Working Capital, Supply Management Army (AWC-SMA) will produce a single, nationally managed fund. A single system of processes and business practices will eliminate the hierarchical structure and all of its inherent weaknesses. "In itself, SSF will revolutionize supply, maintenance, and financial practices by integrating currently separately managed wholesale and installation inventories into a single virtual entity."¹²

Clearly, SSF is addressing a number of the limiting characteristics and weaknesses identified in today's logistics structure. SSF will improve the command channeled, horizontal

structure pitfall while eliminating one of the most confusing aspects of the logistics structure and processes; namely, the retail and wholesale levels of supply and maintenance. It will streamline processes and business practices by using a single item manager and eliminate redundant processing of data elements while integrating financial and logistic data processing and management. The issue of no baseline for source data automation will be facilitated by SSF, but only resolved with the fielding of Global Combat Service Support-Army (GCSS-A). SSF will clarify ownership of assets in the supply pipeline and assist in asset visibility.

The system design is centralized and with the leadership of the Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics (DCSLOG) focused as never before to ensure coordination of effort for near and far term fixes. SSF is designed to be flexible and adaptable to joint and commercial requirements. The overarching objective is a logistics and financial system that will support the warfighter in peace and war.¹³ SSF is presently designed to interface with the present legacy systems in supply and finance. It is also working in concert with GCSS-A development and fielding.

Global Combat Support System - Army

GCSS-A will be the business automation enabler for the Total Army. It is being designed to support Force XXI and the

Revolution in Military Logistics (RML), acting as a conduit to the AAN process.¹⁴ GEN Hartzog's (former TRADOC Commander), vision of GCSS-A is for a single, seamless Combat Service Support (CSS) system to move information; supportive of Army 21 and Army After Next; containing no discrete stove pipes, but enabling horizontal integration; and using interfaces wherever necessary.¹⁵ A key feature of GCSS-A is the plan to encompass more than logistic systems but also financial, medical, and other non-logistic Combat Service Support (CSS) functions. This approach will greatly enhance CSS management.

The current CSS operations and information management systems are designed similar to the CSS organizational design, with stovepipe structures and very little horizontal interface. Communication among systems is frequently through the passing of floppy disks verses an automated link. The lack of a common, shared relational database to support a CSS system was a key issue identified in the Total Distribution Plan after Operation Desert Storm. The Chief of Staff of the Army recognized logistic automation as one of the Army's top three programs.¹⁶ GCSS-A will support CSS with functions of manning, arming, fixing, fueling, moving, and sustaining. It will also interface with other CSS systems with a minimum amount of data entry requirements.

GCSS-A will eliminate a number of identified weaknesses in the logistics arena. GCSS-A will be the business information

system for the Army, a seamless and integrated CSS management system. One operating system, language, and communications protocol will replace ten retail systems. These ten systems currently have six operating systems, eight languages, and four communication protocols. GCSS-A windows based enabler will facilitate training and support commercial interface. This will provide the baseline for source data automation and eliminate much of the redundant processing of identical data elements. System design is centralized, thus ensuring the appropriate level of oversight at DA DCSLOG. GCSS-Army will provide a nationally managed logistics system.¹⁷ This, in conjunction with SSF business practices, will alleviate a large number of identified logistic weaknesses with current systems. GCSS-A and SSF are critical initiatives to move logistics into Force XXI and AAN.

GCSS-A and SSF both contribute significantly toward an optimal logistics system. These two initiatives will eliminate many of the recognized limiting characteristics evident today. However, there are literally hundreds of additional initiatives that must be focused to support the aim of a single, optimal logistics system. The Army needs a management tool to orchestrate the hundreds of separate subsystems to obtain one optimal logistics system.

The Army Strategic Logistics Plan

The Army Strategic Logistic Plan (ASLP) is the source document to ensure synchronization and optimization for logistics.

"The purpose of the Army Strategic Logistic Plan (ASLP) is to provide the forum and media necessary to synchronize the revolutionary efforts of individual logistics organizations, automated systems, processes, technology insertions, and policies with strategic direction of the Army."¹⁸

This is no easy task considering the amount of change the Army is going through in an effort to support future battlefields.

The ASLP encompasses all levels, organizations, and processes of Army logistics. It focuses on three process cycles in support of the Revolution in Military Logistics (RML) vision; today (current), Force XXI (near term), and Army After Next (long term). The plan complements the broader perspective of logistics complying with Department of Defense guidance and includes all activities that facilitate military operations. The Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics (DCSLOG), HQDA has staff responsibility for developing and executing the ASLP. The Director, Logistic Integration Agency (LIA) is the functional proponent and manages the development and implementation of the plan.¹⁹

The ASLP will ensure all aspects of future logistics are coordinated and do not sub-optimize any one aspect of the

envisioned RML process. Goals and attributes of the Revolution

in Military Logistics are:

Goals:

• A Revolutionary Military Force.

• Rapidly Project Sustained Decisive Military Power.

RML Attributes:

- Distribution Based Logistics
- Seamless Single Logistics Information System.
- Integrated Operational and Logistical Planning
- Seamless Integrated Support from all Sources:
 - Army, Joint, Government, Industry, Allies
- Enhanced Supportability and Streamlined Logistics will be built into the Army After Next.
 "Palance Description Efficiency with Martime Effectiveness."
- "Balance Peacetime Efficiency with Wartime Effectiveness."²⁰

Coordinating and synchronizing all aspects of logistics throughout the Army are necessary to ensure results are in line with Department of Defense (DOD), Joint, and Army leadership and the Revolution in Military Affairs (RMA). The ASLP allows the Army to prioritize scarce resources on the high priority enablers to ensure near and far term goals are met.²¹ While all logistic initiatives are synchronized to support the RML goals and attributes, DOD is working on long term solutions which cross Service boundaries

The Advanced Logistics Program

The Advanced Logistics Program (ALP) is a joint research effort with the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency

(DARPA) and the Defense Logistics Agency (DLA). This initiative

is intended to focus and synchronize military logistics systems to achieve optimum logistics solutions. "The program will define, develop, and demonstrate fundamental enabling technologies that will permit forces and sustainment materiel to be deployed, tracked, refurbished, sustained, and redeployed more effectively and efficiently than ever before."²²

ALP will leverage advanced information technologies to develop an automated, multi-echelon, collaborative information system, and transportation technologies able to plan, monitor, replan, and re-execute logistical support even if assets are already enroute. ALP is based on a computer network allowing real time visualization and interaction at all phases of an operation. It will include all components of military and commercial CSS allowing the warfighter to quickly understand all aspects of logistics and sustainment implications. It will enable him to quickly generate plans, monitor the situation, and replan maximizing the assets available to support his mission.

The ALP is working toward combining efforts of all the components within DOD to optimize the military logistics system. This initiative demonstrates the DOD commitment toward optimization. Industry has also embraced the goals and attributes associated with an optimal logistics system. Industry is ahead of the Army in many respects toward achieving the aim of a seamless and synchronized logistics system.

INDUSTRY INITIATIVES

Caterpillar's Parts and Services Support Center (P&SS) is an excellent example of an advanced supply system working today. Caterpillar has named the system High Velocity Product Support, and the system provides parts from Bakersfield to Beirut to Bangkok. Their mission is very similar to the Army or military: provide the fastest possible response to a customer's needs. Caterpillar does this through advanced technology, sophisticated logistics systems, superior service, and quality parts. The distribution network over five continents is able to ship 99.7% of requested items within two hours. The parts order processing system can locate a part throughout the Caterpillar system. Their materiel management programs ensure the right parts are on hand when needed. Their future development is already working on sophisticated prognostics designed to locate an operating problem before failure. It will then forewarn the local dealer who can get the needed parts before the system ever becomes unserviceable.²³

Another current business case study is Wal-Mart. Today if a customer walks in to any Wal-Mart and requests an item the clerk can tell them if they have any on their shelf, in their store storage area, in the Wal-Mart storage area, or at any other Wal-Mart location. In a case study by MITRE Corporation, this competitive awareness is the key competitive advantage in the

retail sector. In a recent interview, the Wal-Mart president commented that he did not worry about competitors that thought Wal-Mart was in the retail business, only those who sought to compete with him in the information business. Wal-Mart spent \$452M in 1995 and \$1,027M in 1996 on information technology. Their cost of distribution was 3% of sales verses 4.5 to 5% by their competition.²⁴ To remain viable both in the business sector and in the quickly changing Army Force XXI and AAN model, logistics must be adequately resourced, particularly in the information technology area. These two examples illustrate the viability of leaner, more flexible logistics that fully support the mission; right time, right place, right stuff...always at best value.²⁵

SUMMARY

Limiting characteristics in the logistics system create suboptimal performance. The impact of weaknesses is extremely costly in wasted dollars and time. Excess, financial management problems, and policy issues are but a few examples of impacts caused by weaknesses in the logistics system. Many of the current initiatives are moving toward optimization. SSF and GCSS-A are key enablers to achieve a synchronized and optimal logistics system. The Army Strategic Logistic Plan is necessary to orchestrate the numerous efforts in logistics support. The key is to ensure that all of the component parts comprised in

the logistics system are in synchronization with the optimal logistics end state. It is also key for the DCSLOG to enforce the direction laid out in the ASLP. Industry has demonstrated the ability and realized the advantage of a synchronized and functional logistics system. The goal of orchestrating the combined efforts of all system components toward the most functional and efficient logistics system is paramount.

Optimization of the entire logistics system to support soldiers today and in the future is the end state. Each of the present day limiting characteristics can be overcome. Major strides are being taken to address issues in our present system and potential issues as we move toward Force XXI and Army After Next. The ASLP is a key management tool for integrating the hundreds of subsystem enablers into a single logistics system. Only through centralized oversight and continued orchestration of the synchronization of all the components of a logistics system can optimization be attained. The DCSLOG must take charge of this responsibility. An optimal logistics system is essential to maximize efficiencies and best support all facets of the Army.

RECOMMENDATION

The Army is taking the proper steps to eliminate sub-optimal logistics. Weaknesses are identified and initiatives to eliminate these weaknesses are being implemented. Nevertheless,

more can be done, and faster by implementing the following recommendations.

(1) Give complete authority on all CSS programs and issues to the DCSLOG. Thus centralizing command and control to more effectively and efficiently carry out the ASLP.

(2) Implement the SSF program immediately following operational testing. This is a major step in the development of a single logistics system.

(3) Close the FORSCOM Materiel Management Center. Thereby eliminating duplication of effort. Incorporate their programs and initiatives into the SSF business practices.

(4) Implement the Rand study recommendations on inventory management and credit and pricing policy. This would bring systems more in line with optimal business practices.

(5) Mandate all CSS initiatives be an integral component of GCSS-A.

These recommendations support the goal of an optimal logistics system. The mission is right time, right place, right stuff...always at the best value.²⁶

Word count = 4844

ENDNOTES

¹ "Lexicon," Linked from Office of the Secretary of Defense Quality Management Office at "Library," Available from http://web5.whs.osd.mil/lexicona.htm/; Internet. Accesses 11 March 1999. ² U.S. Army Logistics Integration Agency, The Army Strategic Logistics Plan. (Alexandria, VA. 1997), Chapter 2, n.p. ³ Ibid., Chapter 2, n.p. Kenneth Girardini and Alan Kaplan, "Optimum" Inventory Levels for AMC-Managed Items. (Santa Monica, CA: RAND, AB-185-A, January 1998), vi. ⁵ Lauren Reyes lreyes@alexandria-emh1.army.mil, "RE: More Questions," electronic mail message to Jim Rogers rebaar@aol.com, 26 January 1999. ⁶ Girardini, vii-ix. ⁷ Ibid. vi. ⁸ Marygail Brauner, Ellen Pint, Dan Relles, John Bondanella, and Rick Eden, Modifying Credit, Price, and Surcharge Policies to Encourage More Cost Effective Supply and Repair Decisions. (Santa Monica, CA: Rand, AB-157-1-A, September 1997), v-ix.

⁹ Bush, "Sub-Optimization of Logistics."

¹⁰ Marygail Brauner, John Bondanella, Ellen Pint, and Dan Relles, <u>Pricing and Credit Policies Hamper Logistics Management</u>. (Santa Monica, CA: RAND, AB-180-A, 1997), v-vii.

¹¹ Robert Bell, Deputy Program Manager for Single Stock Fund. " Article for Army Logistician," (Unpublished article. Alexandria, VA, n.d.),1.

¹² Robert Bell, Deputy Program Manager for Single Stock Fund. "Single Stock Fund," Fact Sheet. (Alexandria, VA, 17 September 1998).

¹³ Bell, "Unpublished Article,"2-3.

¹⁴ U.S. Army Combined Arms Support Command, <u>Integrated Combat</u> <u>Service Support System Operational Requirements Document (ORD)</u>.
(Fort Lee, VA.: U.S. Army CASCOM, 5 February 1997), 1.
¹⁵ Daniel G. Brown MG, Commander, CASACOM. "Minutes of the Global Combat Support System-Army (GCSS-A) General Officer's Working Group (GOWG) Video Teleconference (VTC) Meeting, 27 May 1998,"
(Memorandum for record, Fort Lee, VA., 5 June 1998), 1.
¹⁶ Chip Larson, LTC, Program Manager for Global Combat Support System-Army, "Global Combat Support System-Army," Fact Sheet.
(Washington D.C., 6 October 1998), 1-2.
¹⁷ Ibid, 1-2.

¹⁸ U.S. Army Logistics Integration Agency, <u>The Army Strategic</u> Logistics Plan. (Alexandria, VA. 1997), Chapter 1, n.p.

- ¹⁹ Ibid, Chapter 1, n.p.
- ²⁰ Ibid, Chapter 4, n.p.
- ²¹ Ibid, Chapter 4, n.p.

²² "Advanced Logistics Program Overview," linked from <u>Advanced</u> <u>Research Projects Agency</u> at "Advanced Logistics Program," available from <u>http://www.arpa.mil/iso/alp/</u>; Internet; accessed 29 December 1998.

²³ Caterpillar, Incorporated, Parts and Service Support. "High Velocity Product Support," (Information Brochure, n.p. 1997).
²⁴ Fred Stein. "Network Centric Warfare." Briefing. (MITRE Corporation, 13 November 1998), 8.
²⁵ U.S. Army Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics, <u>The Revolution</u> <u>in Military Logistics</u>, (Washington D.C.: U.S. Government

Printing Office, n.d.), 1.

²⁶ Ibid, 1.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abell, John B. and Louis W. Miller, <u>Stockage Policy Performance</u> <u>Measurement: An Annotated Briefing</u>. Santa Monica, CA: RAND, DRR-1220-A, September 1995.

"Advanced Logistics Program Overview." Linked from <u>Advanced</u> <u>Research Projects Agency</u> at "Advanced Logistics Program." Available from <u>http://www.arpa.mil/iso/alp/</u>. Internet. Accessed 29 December 1998.

"Advanced Logistics Program Background." Linked from <u>Advanced</u> <u>Research Projects Agency</u> at "Advanced Logistics Program." Available from <u>http://www.arpa.mil/iso/alp/</u>. Internet. Accessed 29 December 1998.

"Advanced Logistics Program Focused Logistics." Linked from <u>Advanced Research Projects Agency</u> at "Advanced Logistics Program." Available from <u>http://www.arpa.mil/iso/alp/</u>. Internet. Accessed 29 December 1998.

"Advanced Logistics Program Grand Challenges." Linked from <u>Advanced Research Projects Agency</u> at "Advanced Logistics Program." Available from <u>http://www.arpa.mil/iso/alp/</u>. Internet. Accessed 29 December 1998.

"Advanced Logistics Program Technologies of Interest." Linked from <u>Advanced Research Projects Agency</u> at "Advanced Logistics Program." Available from <u>http://www.arpa.mil/iso/alp/</u>. Internet. Accessed 29 December 1998.

"Army Strategic Logistic Plan." Linked from <u>U.S. Army Logistics</u> <u>Integration Agency</u> at "Logistics Integration Agency Homepage." Available from <u>http://lia.army.mil/</u>. Internet. Accessed 31 December 1998.

Baker, Sue. "Single Stock Fund." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 26-27.

Bell, Robert, Deputy Program Manager for Single Stock Fund. "Single Stock Fund," Fact Sheet. Alexandria, VA, 17 September 1998.

Bell, Robert, Deputy Program Manager for Single Stock Fund. " Article for Army Logistician," Unpublished article. Alexandria, VA, n.d.

Bell, Robert, Deputy Program Manager for Single Stock Fund. " Single Stock Fund Program Update to General Wilson Commander, AMC," Briefing. Alexandria, VA, 4 August 1998.

Bigelow, J.H. and M.Y.D. Wang, <u>Communications and Information</u> <u>Systems in Support of Logistics in the Theater: A Progress</u> <u>Report</u>. Santa Monica, CA: RAND, DRR-1248-A, November 1995. Brauner, Marygail, John Bondanella, Joe Bolton, Lionel Galway, Ellen Pint, Elizabeth Ondaatje, and Jerry Sollinger, <u>ISM-X</u> <u>Evaluation and Policy Implications</u>. Santa Monica, CA: RAND, MR-829-A, 1997.

Brauner, Marygail, John Bondanella, Ellen Pint, and Dan Relles, <u>Pricing and Credit Policies Hamper Logistics Management</u>. Santa Monica, CA: RAND, AB-180-A, 1997.

Brauner, Marygail, Ellen Pint, Dan Relles, John Bondanella, and Rick Eden, <u>Modifying Credit, Price, and Surcharge Policies to</u> <u>Encourage More Cost Effective Supply and Repair Decisions</u>. Santa Monica, CA: Rand, AB-157-1-A, September 1997.

Brown, Daniel G. MG, Commander, CASACOM. "Minutes of the Global Combat Support System-Army (GCSS-A) General Officer's Working Group (GOWG) Video Teleconference (VTC) Meeting, 27 May 1998," Memorandum for record, Fort Lee, VA., 5 June 1998.

Bush, Joe. "Sub-Optimization of Logistics Closeout Briefing to DA DCSLOG." Alexandria, VA, U.S. Army Logistics Integration Agency, October 1998.

Bush, Joe <u>Joe.Bush@hqda.army.mil</u>, "RE: Questions," Electronic mail message to Jim Rogers <u>Rogersj@awc.carlisle.army.mil</u>, 11 December 1998.

Bush, Joe <u>Joe.Bush@hqda.army.mil</u>, "RE: More Questions," Electronic mail message to Jim Rogers

Rogersj@awc.carlisle.army.mil, 13 January 1999.

Butler, Cecilia and Sandra Latsko. "Army Total Asset Visability." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 86-88. Cardella, Tom. "Medical Prime Vendor." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 50-51.

Caterpillar, Incorporated, Parts and Service Support. "High Velocity Product Support," Information Brochure, n.p. 1997. Chappell, Sam COL and Doug Korba. "Smart Simple Design." <u>Army</u> Logistician, January-February 1999, 150-152.

Clausewitz, Karl von. <u>On War</u>. Edited and translated by Michael Howard and Peter Paret. Princton, NJ: Princton University Press, 1976.

Cowan, William, Chief, Supply and Maintenance Division Forces Command. "Minutes of the GCSS-A Installation Work Group, 14 to 16 July, Headquarters, CASCOM, Fort Lee, VA." Memorandum for record, Atlanta, GA, 3 August 1998.

Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency. "Advanced logistics Program" 1998. Available from <u>http://www.arpa.mil/isp/alp</u>. Internet. Accessed 29 December 1998.

Dodge, George E. <u>Breaking the Phalanx: A New Design for</u> <u>Landpower in the 21st Century</u>. Westport, CT: Praeger, 1997. Edwards, Thomas J. and Dr. Rick Eden. "Velocity Management and the Revolution in Military Logistics." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 52-57.

Forte, Allen LTC. "Acquisition and Logistics for the Army After Next." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 110-113. Gagnon, E. Carroll. "Modernization Through Spares." <u>Army</u> Logistician, January-February 1999, 65-67.

Gavora, William M. LTC. "Prime Vendor Support-The Wave of the Future." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 70-71. Girardini, Kenneth and Alan Kaplan, <u>"Optimum" Inventory Levels</u> <u>for AMC-Managed Items</u>. Santa Monica, CA: RAND, AB-185-A, January 1998.

Glisson, Henry T. LTG. "Revolution in Military Logistics-Improving Support to the Warfighter." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 8-9.

Hamilton, Albert J. COL. "Army Diagnostics Improvement Program." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 96-102.

Heiser, Joseph A. <u>A Soldier Supporting Soldiers</u>. Washington,

D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1990.

Hensley, Fredrica G. <Henslfg@hqda.army.mil>, "RE: Questions,"

electronic mail message to Jim Rogers

<rogersj@awc.carlisle.army.mil>, 21 January 1999.

Houck, Roger and William R. Cousins. "Communication Technologies for the Revolution in Military Logistics." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 24-25. Houck, Roger. "Adequate Logistics Footprint." <u>Army Logistician</u>,

January-February 1999, 128-129.

Koedding, Bruce. "Integrated Sustainment Maintenance." Army Logistician, January-February 1999, 79-83.

Lamb, Don COL. "JTMO-Delivering the Revolution in Military Logistics." Army Logistician, January-February 1999, 44-45. Larson, Chip. "To: DCSLOG How does GCSS-Army support and implement Single Stock Fund?" Briefing to DCSLOG by PM GCSS-A, Washington D.C., Program Manager, Global Combat Support System-Army, 1998.

Larson, Chip, Program Manager for Global Combat Support System-Army, "Global Combat Support System-Army," Fact Sheet. Washington D.C., 6 October 1998.

"Lexicon." Linked from <u>Office of the Secretary of Defense</u> <u>Quality Management Office</u>. at "Library." Available from <u>http://web5.whs.osd.mil/lexicona.htm/</u>. Internet. Accesses 11 March 1999.

Lockheed Martin Federal Systems, "Wholesale Logistics Modernization Program (WLMP)," Information Brochure. Owego, NY. April 1998.

Lyons, John Dr. "Army Research Laboratory: Advanced Technology for the RML." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 106-108. Mathews, Randy T. LTC. "Total Ownership Cost Reduction- A Secretary of Defense Imperative." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 138-139.

McDuffie, John M. LTG. "Joint Vision 2010 and Focused Logistics." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 7. Mervis, Stuart A. COL. "Medical Logistics-Ready for the Future." Army Logistician, January-February 1999, 72-78.

Office of the Under Secretary of Defense, Defense Management Report Decision, No. 901C: Reducing Supply Systems Cost. Washington D.C.: Office of the Under Secretary of Defense, 1990. Office of the Under Secretary of Defense, Defense Management Report Decision, No. 927: Army DMR Proposals. Washington D.C.: Office of the Under Secretary of Defense, 1990. Office of the Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics, The Revolution in Military Logistics, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of the Army, n.d. O'Konski, Mark J. "Revolution in Military Logistics: An Overview." Army Logistician, January-February 1999, 10-14. Pagonis, William G., and Jeffrey L. Cruikshank. Moving Mountains: Lessons in Leadership and Logistics from the Gulf War. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press, 1992. Payne, David. "Distribution-Based Logistics." Army Logistician, January-February 1999, 38-40. Peterson, John L. The road to 2015: Profiles of the Future. Corte Mader, CA: Waite Group Press, 1994. Pickler, John M. LTG, Chief of Staff, U.S. Army Forces Command. "Reinvention Charter FORSCOM Materiel Management Center (FMMC)." Charter. Atlanta, GA, 9 December 1998. Pollard, Deborah and C.T. Chase. "Basic Research to Reduce Logistics Demand." Army Logistician, January-February 1999, 156-

159.

Reyes, Lauren <u>lreyes@alexandria-emh1.army.mil</u>, "RE: More Questions," electronic mail message to Jim Rogers rebaar@aol.com, 23 January 1999.

Reyes, Lauren <u>lreyes@alexandria-emh1.army.mil</u>, "RE: More Questions," electronic mail message to Jim Rogers <u>rebaar@aol.com</u>, 26 January 1999.

Reyes, Lauren <u>lreyes@alexandria-emh1.army.mil</u>, "RE: (no subject)," electronic mail message to Jim Rogers <u>rebaar@aol.com</u>, 17 November 1998.

Santamaria, Jodie. "A-Mart Army Shopping On Line." <u>Army</u> Logistician, January-February 1999, 68-69.

Shimko, Edward J. COL and LTC Thet-Shay Nyunt. "GCSS-Army Making the Revolution in Military Logistics Happen." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 20-23.

Sikes, Kenny <u>sikesk@forscom.army.mil</u>, "RE: Information request." Electronic mail message to Jim Rogers

rogersj@awc.carlisle.army.mil, 4 January 1999.

Smith, Larry. "Commercial Logistics Best Practices for the Revolution in Military Logistics." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 33-35.

Stein, Fred. "Network Centric Warfare." Briefing. MITRE Corporation, 13 November 1998.

Taylor, William H. COL and Randy T. Fowler. "Achieving an Agile Defense Infrastructure." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 60-64.

U.S. Army Forces Command, Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics and Readiness. " Forces Command Materiel Management Center

(FMMC)." Draft history and present structure of FMMC. Atlanta, GA, n.d.

U.S. Army Forces Command, Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics and Readiness. "Implementation, Operation, and Support of the FORSCOM Contract Supply Support Team in 82D ABN DIV-Bragg. (FCSST-82D Bragg)." Memorandum of Agreement. Atlanta, GA, 21 July 1998.

U.S. Army Combined Arms Support Command, <u>Mission need statement</u> for Integrated Combat Service Support Stamis (ICS3). Fort Lee, VA.: U.S. Army CASCOM, n.d.

U.S. Army Combined Arms Support Command, Integrated Combat

Service Support System Operational Requirements Document (ORD).

Fort Lee, VA.: U.S. Army CASCOM, 5 February 1997.

U.S. Army Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics, <u>The Revolution in</u> <u>Military Logistics</u>, Washington D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, n.d.

U.S. Army Logistics Integration Agency, <u>The Army Strategic</u> Logistics Plan. Alexandria, VA. 1997. Van Creveld, Martin L. Supplying War: Logistics from Wallenstein to Patton. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1977. Vannatta, Phillip MAJ <u>vannattp@bragg.army.mil</u>. "FW: FMMC MOA." Electronic mail message to Jim Rogers

<u>rogersj@awc.carlisle.army.mil</u>. History of FORSCOM Redistribution Program detailed by Juan Rodriguez in this message. 9 November 1998.

Wallace, Roy and Dr. Christopher R. Hardy. "Seamless Logistics System." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 18-19. West, Togo, Secretary of the Army, "Request for Designation of Forces Command as Reinvention Center for the United States Army." Personal for message to GEN Reimer, CG FORSCOM. Washington D.C., 151319Z DEC 94.

"What is GCSS-ARMY?" Linked from <u>GCSS-Army Homepage</u> at "What is GCSS-ARMY?" Available from http://www.gcss-army.mil/ Internet.

Accessed 1 January 1999.

Wilson, Johnnie E. GEN, LTG John G. Coburn, MG Daniel G. Brown. "Our Revolution in Military Logistics-Supporting the 21st Century Soldier." <u>Army Logistician</u>, January-February 1999, 3-6. Witt, Jeffrey D. CPT and CPT Shawn P. Feigenbaum. "Extending the Logistics Revolution at the Operational and Tactical Levels." Army Logistician, January-February 1999, 41-43.